
Licensing of 
Alcohol and 

Gambling Sub-
Committee

Agenda

1

MONDAY 12 DECEMBER 2016 AT 10.00 AM

DBC Gade Room - Civic Centre

The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda.

Membership

Councillor Mrs Bassadone
Councillor P Hearn

Councillor R Sutton

Substitute Members:
Councillors  

For further information, please contact  or 

AGENDA

1. MINUTES  

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting

2. APOLOGIES OF ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

4. PREMISES LICENCE APPLICATIONS UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 2003  (Pages 
3 - 75)

5. PROCEDURE FOR THE HEARING  (Pages 76 - 77)

6. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

Public Document Pack



2

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

To consider passing a resolution in the following terms:

 That, under s.100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A Part 1 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 the 
public be excluded during the item in Part II of the Agenda for this meeting, because it 
is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted, that if members of the 
public were present during that item there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information relating to



Report for: Licensing of Alcohol and Gambling
Sub-Committee

Date of meeting: 12th December 2016

PART: I

If Part II, reason: -

Title of report: Premises Licence applications under the 
Licensing Act 2003

Contact: Sally Mcdonald, Lead Officer, Licensing

Purpose of report:
This report sets out details of applications in respect of premises 
licences which require consideration and determination by the Sub-
Committee in accordance with the adopted scheme of delegation.

Recommendations
That the Sub-Committee consider the contents of the reports, and 
representations made in respect of the applications, and determine 
the applications in accordance with the options set out below.

Corporate objectives:

Safe and Clean Environment
 Applications are required to be considered with regard to the 

promotion of four licensing objectives, comprising the prevention 
of crime and disorder, public safety, prevention of public 
nuisance, and protection of children from harm.

Dacorum Delivers
 Consideration of applications for premises licences and club 

premises certificates is a statutory function, with a risk of judicial 
proceedings and reputational damage should the authority fail to 
properly exercise its functions.

Implications: Applications are to be determined under existing policies. No new 
policy implications arise.

Consultees:
Consultation requirements are prescribed by legislation, and differ 
depending upon the type of application. Details of representations 
made by consultees are set out below.

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Background papers:

Licensing Act 2003, and associated regulations

DBC Statement of Licensing Policy 2016-2021

Guidance to Licensing Authorities under section 182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 (Home Office, March 2015)

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

1. Background

1.1. The supply of alcohol, provision of regulated entertainment, and sale of late night 
refreshment are licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003. Authorisation 
from the Council, in its role as the licensing authority, is required in order to carry on 
any of these activities at premises within the borough.

1.2. The Act provides several forms of authorisation for different scenarios. Persons or 
organisations wishing to carry on activities at premises on a regular basis, or at 
larger one-off events, will require a premises licence to authorise those activities. 
Members’ clubs, satisfying a number of statutory criteria, may alternatively hold a 
club premises certificate.

1.3. Under the scheme of delegation adopted by the Council, the Licensing of Alcohol & 
Gambling Sub-Committee (“the Sub-Committee”) is responsible for the exercise of 
many of the functions of the licensing authority, including determination of 
applications where representations have been received.

2. Applications

2.1. The applications detailed in part 5 of this report have been made to the licensing 
authority and require consideration and determination by the Sub-Committee.

2.2. Notice of application was given by the applicant in each case, through service of a 
copy of the application on specified ‘responsible authorities’ (this obligation is 
fulfilled by officers where the application was given electronically). The applicant 
was also required to give public notice of the application, by way of publication of 
details in a local newspaper, and by displaying a statutory notice at or near the 
premises. In the case of the review display of the public notice by both the Premises 
Licence holder and the licensing authority is required. Failure to comply with these 
requirements would render an application invalid. Officers have undertaken checks 
to ensure that these requirements were satisfied.

2.3. The applicant and persons making representations have been given notice of the 
hearing in accordance with statutory requirements.

3. General principles to be followed when determining applications

3.1. When considering applications, the licensing authority is required to carry out its 
functions with a view promoting the licensing objectives, which are:

Page 4

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/licensing-documents/alcohol/statement-of-licensing-policy-2016-2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418114/182-Guidance2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418114/182-Guidance2015.pdf


 the prevention of crime and disorder;
 public safety;
 the prevention of public nuisance; and
 the protection of children from harm.

3.2. The licensing authority must also have regard to its Statement of Licensing Policy, 
and to the statutory guidance issued by the Home Office under section 182 of the 
Act. Attention is drawn to specific, relevant provisions from these documents, with 
the details of the applications in the Appendices.

3.3. The Sub-Committee must ensure that all licensing decisions have a direct 
relationship to the promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives. Every 
application should be considered on its merits, and there must not be a 'blanket 
policy' to the extent that it is applied so rigidly that an exercise of discretion in each 
individual case is precluded. Applications must be considered with regard to the 
principles of fair process and the Human Rights Act.

3.4. The Statement of Licensing Policy makes clear to applicants and persons who have 
made representations the considerations that will be taken into account when 
determining applications. It is also intended to guide the Sub-Committee when 
considering licensing applications; however, the Sub-Committee may depart from 
either the Statement of Licensing Policy or the statutory guidance where the 
circumstances of the application justify it and if there are good reasons for doing so. 
Full reasons must be given and Sub-Committees should be aware that such 
departures could give rise to an appeal or judicial review.

3.5. The provisions of chapter 10 of the statutory guidance highlight that only precise, 
appropriate and proportionate conditions, which promote one or more of the 
licensing objectives, should be attached to the licence or certificate. The Sub-
Committee should only impose such conditions as are appropriate to promote the 
licensing objectives arising out of the consideration of the representations received , 
and should avoid straying into undisputed areas. Conditions duplicating other 
statutory provisions are not considered to be appropriate.

3.6. It is considered inappropriate for officers involved in the administration of 
applications to make recommendations. However officers from the Responsible 
Authorities may request conditions be imposed on a licence and make 
recommendations with regard to the licensing objectives.

3.7. Parties to a hearing, including the applicant and persons who made relevant 
representations, may have rights of appeal against any decision made by the Sub-
Committee, dependent upon the nature of the decision. Appeals may be instituted 
by way of written notice to a Magistrates Court, within 21 days of being notified of 
the decision.

4. Options available to the Sub-Committee

4.1. When determining an application for the grant of a premises licence (under section 
17 of the 2003 Act), the Sub-Committee must, having regard to relevant 
representations made in respect of that application, take such of the following steps 
as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives:

Page 5



(a) grant the licence subject to any applicable mandatory conditions, and conditions 
consistent with the operating schedule modified to such extent as the authority 
considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives;

(b) exclude from the scope of the licence any of the licensable activities to which 
the application relates;

(c) refuse to specify a person in the licence as the premises supervisor;
(d) reject the application.

4.2. When determining an application for the review of a premises licence (under section 
51), the Sub-Committee must, having regard to the application and any relevant 
representations made in respect of that application, take such of the following steps 
as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives:

(a) take no action;
(b) modify the conditions of the licence (by way of alteration, omission or addition);
(c) exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
(d) remove the designated premises supervisor;
(e) suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;
(f) revoke the licence.

5. Details of applications

5.1. The following applications require consideration and determination by the Sub-
Committee. Further details on each application are contained in the indicated 
appendix:

Appendix Premises name / address Type of application

A 67A St John’s Road Hemel 
Hempstead Hertfordshire HP1 1QG

Grant of a premises 
licence (section 17 of 
the 2003 Act)

B
The Little Convenience Store, 62 
Western Road, Tring, Hertfordshire 
HP23 4BB

Review of a premises 
licence (section 51of 
the 2003 Act)

Page 6



APPENDIX A

Applicants name Mr Alexandre Habachi and Ms Una O’Byrne

Name and address of premises 67A St John’s Road, Hemel Hempstead, 
Hertfordshire HP1 1QG

Ward Boxmoor

1. Current Licence

1.1 The premises is not currently subject to authorisation under the Licensing 
Act 2003.

2. Application

2.1 An application has been made for the grant of a new premises licence under 
section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003. This is set out at Annex A.

2.2 Authorisation was initially sought for the following licensable activity:

Supply of alcohol (for consumption both on and off the premises)
Monday to Saturday 10.00 to 23.00 hours
Sunday 12.00 to 23.00 hours

Non standard timings: 
Christmas Eve  17.00 to 23.00 hours
New Year’s Eve  17.00 to 01.00 hours
Valentines Day 17.00 to 23.00 hours
St Patrick’s Day  17.00 to 23.00 hours

Hours the premises may open to the public
Monday to Friday 07.00 to 23.00 hours
Saturday 10.30 to 23.00 hours
Sunday  12.00 to 23.00 hours

Non standard timings:
Christmas Eve  17.00 to 23.00 hours
New Year’s Eve  17.00 to 01.00 hours
Valentines Day 17.00 to 23.00 hours
St Patrick’s Day  17.00 to 23.00 hours

2.3 A plan of the premises and map of the area is set out at Annexes B1-B2.

3. Details of Representation

3.1 One representation has been received from a person living in the vicinity of 
the premises, which cites concerns in respect of public safety and public 
nuisance.  This representation is set out at Annex C1.

3.2 The applicants requested an opportunity to negotiate with the person who 
had submitted the representation and that correspondence is set out at 
Annex C2 and C3.  During the course of this negotiation the applicant offered 
an amendment to the hours initially applied for, for authorisation of the sale of 

Page 7



alcohol. The amendment to standard timings only is as follows:

Monday to Thursday 10.00 to 18.00 hours
Friday and Saturday   10.00 to 23.00 hours
Sunday 12.00 to 18.00 hours

No amendments to non-standard timings or the premises opening hours were 
offered.

3.3 The following responses were received from responsible authority officers in 
respect of the application:

Police – no relevant representations
Fire Officer – no relevant representations
Environmental Health, Health and Safety – no relevant representations

4. Observations

4.1 Relevant extracts from the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and the 
statutory guidance are set out at Annex D.

Page 8



Annex A – Application for grant of premises licence

Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Annex B1: Plan of premises

Page 21



Annex B2: Map of area

Page 22



Annex C1 – representation

 

Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Annex C2 – Letter of negotiation from applicant

Alexandre Habachi
The Ration Book Bakery

67A St John’s Road
Boxmoor HP1 1QG

c/o Licensing Department
Dacorum Borough Council
Civic Centre
Hemel Hempstead HP1 1HH

16th November 2016

Dear Sir/Madam,

Re. Premises Licence Application for the Ration Book Bakery ref. M041740

Thank you for your correspondence in relation to the above application. I would like to take 
this opportunity to clarify the nature and intended use of the authorities we are seeking. I 
will also refer to the Licensing Objectives and the measures we will take in order to promote 
them.   

I hope that the content of this letter, and our proposed amendments to the application, will 
alleviate the concerns you have expressed and provide you with reassurance of our intended 
plans.

1) The Premises
We recognise the size and capacity restrictions of the premises and embrace them. Our 
intention is not to create a conventional drinking establishment (i.e. in the same vein as a 
pub or bar). We intend to stock fine wines and craft beers in an off-sales capacity with the 
emphasis being on niche, high quality products. This will be the unique selling point of the 
business and there is no intention to stock or sell ‘all alcohol’. Furthermore, the primary 
business of the premises will continue to be as a café and bakery. 

The on-sales aspect will be driven by specific events e.g. wine tastings, baby showers, and 
food-driven daily sales which compliment current activity e.g. cream teas with a glass of 
prosecco. It is not, and has never been, our intention to focus on extensive on-site alcohol 
consumption.

Due to the size restrictions and intended nature of alcohol sales, the proposed functions will 
be marketed to a discerning and mature local audience. The small capacity of the premises 
also allows for greater control over the on-site patrons. We believe this further mitigates the 
risk of public nuisance and disorder.

The premises does in fact have WC facilities to the rear and the smoking policy is, and will 
continue to be, compliant with the Health Act 2006. 

The café itself is currently dressed, decorated and marketed in a very elegant and tasteful 
manner. Our intention is to conduct all proposed alcohol sales in that same manner.

Page 26



I, as the proposed DPS, am a former police officer with extensive experience and training in 
public disorder. I have risk assessed the venture and believe it to be of low risk. I will be at 
the forefront of all licensed activity and ensure that it is conducted in a safe and responsible 
manner. 

2) Local Residents/Community
We have conducted five wine evenings in the venue since July which we have advertised 
through local leafletting and social media. They have been met with incredibly positive 
feedback from the attendees, many of whom are nearby residents. We have also been 
approached by local residents who have been unable to attend but have expressed interest 
in future events and our plans surrounding this application. We have received not a single 
complaint in relation to noise, litter or anti-social behaviour and the evenings have 
proceeded in a friendly, community-spirited manner.

Since taking it on, the premises owner has transformed the venue into a well thought of and 
cherished local business. She is among a small number of independent business owners 
whose investment in the area contributes to the diversity and regeneration of Boxmoor 
village.

I am a local resident with a young family living on St John’s Road. The safety and well-being 
of my family and the local community are therefore of personal interest to me. In light of 
this, I would discourage any activity which would create a negative impact on the local 
community. I believe that the proposed activity would have the opposite effect – it will 
enhance an already successful and upmarket business in Boxmoor and encourage further 
investment and interest in the local community.

However, in light of the concerns you have expressed, we propose the following 
amendment to our proposed alcohol sales timings:

Mon: 1000-1800

Tue: 1000–1800

Wed: 1000-1800

Thu: 1000-1800

Fri: 1000-2300

Sat: 1000-2300

Sun: 1200-1800

This amendment reflects our intended use i.e. that evening events are not proposed to be 
a nightly function. We do however wish to seek approval for extended opening hours on 
the ‘special days’ outlined in our application.

3) Protection of Children
As stated in our application, we will adopt a Challenge 21 policy to prevent underage sales. 
As our intention is to sell fine/niche alcohol, it will be priced higher than that found in a 
conventional off-licence which will also provide deterrence.

You have expressed concern that children will be at risk when coming home from nursery or 
primary school. We believe that the type of alcohol, small venue capacity and primary daily 

Page 27



function of being a café mitigate this. The venue will be suitably staffed at all times and the 
nature of the business discourages the type of drinking that would create such risks. Cheap 
alcohol bought from the local convenience store and consumed on the moor strikes us as 
the greater risk.

4) Competition
Your letter highlights the other businesses selling alcohol in or nearby the village and 
questions whether there is ‘need for another’. I hope that the above has demonstrated that 
we intend to conduct a different kind of alcohol supply to those already present. 
Furthermore I note that, according to the 2014 Guidance on the Licensing Act 2003, 
‘competition’ is not a relevant representation.

In relation to issues of public nuisance, we intend for this business to provide a local service 
and can foresee no additional onus on local parking. The owner is also highly meticulous in 
her upkeep and cleanliness, we are therefore certain that additional litter would not be an 
issue and that the high standards of the existing business are maintained.

In conclusion: we believe that the nature of our proposed business; the positive local 
feedback we have received in relation to it; and the measures we have set forth to ensure 
that the Licensing Objectives are promoted, indicate that all reasonable steps have been 
taken to ensure that this proposed activity would be of benefit to the local community.

We would ask that you consider the above points and the proposed amendment to our 
intended sale hours. We subsequently welcome your feedback and, if necessary, the 
consideration of this application at the Licensing Authority’s public hearing.

Yours faithfully,

Alexandre Habachi

Page 28



Annex C3: Response to applicant’s letter of negotiation

,
                                                                                       HEMEL HEMPSTEAD,
                                                                                       Hertfordshire.
                                                                                       

                                                17th November 2016

Dear Sir/Madam,
 

Re Premises Licence Application for Ration Book Bakery ref. M041740

Thank you for your letter dated 16th November 2016 in relation to the above 
application.

Can I make it clear that I am not opposed to the promotion of any new business 
that would enhance the Community and promote the investment in the village. I 
am not a Puritan and quite enjoy a ‘good wine’ myself. Neither am I a Nimby.

If this new business were in any other empty building in the village or indeed the 
shop next door I would perhaps have a different view.

The Premises.

It is my view that the premises are too small for this type of establishment. They 
are just not suitable. The main ‘drinking area’ would be outside. Right next to the 
public highway. So small in fact it is inevitable there will be overspill onto the 
highway. There being no way to stop it. I feel there would be noise and a Public 
Nuisance.

What is the maximum capacity? I do not see that mentioned.

Whilst the applicant’s intention is not to create a conventional drinking 
establishment. In reality the application is for an Alcohol Licence. I believe that 
means the sale of any alcohol. I do not believe the Authority is able to include 
restrictions on what constitutes ‘Craft Beer’ or ‘Fine Wine’. Or indeed what price 
they are sold at.
So whatever the ‘intention’ is the licence will be for the sale of all alcohol.

I do not doubt the applicant’s original good intentions but business pressure can 
cause change so swiftly. The purpose of a business is to make money. If one thing 
doesn’t work it has to change.

If the on-sales are to be ‘driven by specific events’ why is it necessary for a 
licence every Friday and Saturday until 2300 hours?

Page 29



The applicant proposes that the functions will be marketed to a ‘discerning and 
mature local audience’. In reality I do not see how that is achieved. What does 
‘local’ mean?  Customers will come from anywhere it cannot be controlled. 
Outside noise and overspill cannot be controlled despite the size. Any business 
would succumb to market forces.  The idea of ‘all the neighbours coming for cake 
and prosecco’ is not believable.

I do not know the requirements of the Health Act 2006, regarding smoking. What 
I do see on a daily basis is customers smoking outside at the table. This is under 
the canopy and inside three walls within the proposed outside ‘drinking area’. I 
do not know if this is legal. If not smoking would have to be on the public 
highway. This would be a Public Nuisance.

I note the proposed DPS is former Police Officer, with experience. I note that he 
has performed a ‘risk assessment’. As he has mentioned this in his application I 
wonder if it is possible to see a copy of this ‘risk assessment’. In addition what 
are his qualifications to carry out such a report, apart from being a former Police 
Officer?

Local Residents/Community

I note the applicant has had five wine evenings since July, without any concern or 
complaint. I live locally and did not receive any ‘leaflets’. I do not know of anyone 
who attended. I am unable to make any further comment.

I am encouraged that the applicant lives in St John’s Road and has the wellbeing 
of the community at heart. How long has he been there?  How long will he stay? I 
ask this as whilst the present intention is to ‘discourage any activity which would 
create a negative impact on the local community’. I believe noise outside on the 
highway at 2300/2400 hours would create a negative impact on the local 
community. Business patterns, pressures and requirements change, people move 
on. How will it be maintained? If the licence is granted what will be the control 
and how will it be enforced?

I feel that the proposed activity at these particular premises will not enhance 
further interest and investment in Boxmoor. Drinking outside in the street will 
cause public nuisance and have a negative effect.
Just where are the ‘successful and upmarket businesses that are referred to?

I am sure a similar business in another suitable building would be successful and 
unopposed. It is just that these premises are not suitable for the type of business 
proposed.  The grant of a Licence is not appropriate.

You are probably aware quite recently a similar project, albeit with BYO alcohol, 
was attempted at what is now Castles Estate Agents in St John’s Road. Perhaps a 
more appropriate premises than this one. The problem? Customers standing out 
in the street smoking and drinking. Causing a public nuisance and obstruction of 

Page 30



the highway. Many complaints were made and the premises ceased to trade. I see 
similarities.

I am aware that according to the 2014 Guidance on the Licensing Act 2003 
‘competition’ is not a relevant representation. However I mention the previous 
establishment as an example of what concerns me for these premises.

The amendment to proposed alcohol sales timings states that it reflects the 
intended use not being a nightly function. However it appears to me that they are 
regular if not nightly. In that every Friday and Saturday sales are still to 2300 
hours. With drinking up etc. that will be 2400 hours. Outside drinking close to 
the public highway will inevitably mean a Public Nuisance. Obviously on the two 
busiest nights of the week.

Protection of Children

A small venue capacity café serving cake and coffee is fine when children are 
passing close by on the public pavement. It is even appropriate for children to sit 
in the café. However seeing adults drinking/intoxicated so close to the pavement 
is not acceptable. Cream cake and prosecco is fine but in reality one leads to 
another etc.
This will be virtually on the public highway. I cannot see how the risk to children 
is mitigated.
Business is business and demand will drive it.

The statement that ‘Cheap alcohol bought from the local convenience store and 
consumed on the moor strikes us as the greater risk’ has no value. There is no 
evidence that this is the source of under age sales. There have been no 
prosecutions or convictions. Local people know. The owner of the local store/off 
licence would be appalled at the accusation. This is just a ‘Smoke Screen’.

4) Competition

Thank you for directing me to the 2014 Guidance on the Licensing Act 2003. 
Therefore I will not comment further on ‘competition’.

Regarding parking which is already quite an issue. As you will be aware it is so 
bad a ‘Residents Parking Zone’ is proposed and is in consultation. A survey 
within that consultation highlights parking problems associated with a licensed 
premises. This application will make matters worse. I already experience parking 
difficulties and obstruction of the highway. As I write vehicles are parked 
opposite the premises blocking the pavement. A local disabled lady has had to 
walk into the road to pass.

To say the intention of the business is ‘to provide a local service and foresee no 
additional onus on local parking’ is a flight of fancy. Despite the good intention 
nobody can restrict where the customers come from, local, passing or otherwise.
Daily I see vehicles illegally parked outside the café.  Causing a Public Nuisance. 
This will only increase.

Page 31



I do not believe the measures ensure the Licensing Objectives are promoted. I do 
not see any benefit to the local community in general.

My view is that the premises are inadequate and not suitable to be used for the 
purpose. They are too small. The main licensed area would be outside almost on 
the public highway. This would lead to extra noise and overspill with drinking 
and smoking on the public highway. Being open until nearly 2400 hours in a 
residential area would be a problem with noise. These would cause a Public 
Nuisance and a Risk to Children. In addition parking would cause further Public 
Nuisance.

I look forward to your reply and the attendance at any meeting required.

                                                                                           Yours faithfully

Page 32



Annex D
Local Policy considerations and statutory guidance

Local Policy consideration

10. Licensing Hours

10.1. Flexible hours for licensable activities and particularly the sale of alcohol can 
help to ensure that large concentrations of customers leaving premises 
simultaneously are avoided. Requiring a number of similar premises to close at the 
same time could lead to friction at late night food outlets, taxi ranks, transport hubs 
and other ‘pinch points’. By encouraging a staggered approach to closing times, it is 
possible to achieve a steadier dispersal of patrons from town centres, with fewer 
incidents of disorder and disturbance. 

10.2. For this reason, the licensing authority will not seek to impose rigid terminal 
hours on premises in particular areas (a concept known as zoning), which is 
considered likely to increase the potential for crime, disorder and nuisance. That 
said, if the authority becomes aware of a proliferation in disorder or nuisance in a 
particular area linked cumulatively to the operations of licensed premises, it may 
consider imposing restrictions on opening hours through the use of its various 
powers, including early morning alcohol restriction orders. 

10.3. Licensing hours should not inhibit the development of a thriving and safe 
evening and night time economy. This is important for investment, local employment, 
tourism and local services associated with the night time economy. Providing 
consumers with greater choice and flexibility is an important consideration, but 
should always be balanced carefully against the duty to promote the licensing 
objectives and the interests of local residents. 

10.4. The licensing authority expects that issues relating to licensing hours, and in 
particular measures to limit the potential for nuisance or disorder arising from later 
hours of trading, will be addressed by the applicant in their operating schedule. 

10.8. The licensing authority will deal with the issue of licensing hours on the 
individual merits of each application. However, when issuing a licence, stricter 
conditions are more likely to be considered appropriate for the promotion of the 
public nuisance objective in the case of premises that are situated in predominantly 
residential areas. 

11. Licence Conditions

1.1. The licensing authority will seek to avoid imposing disproportionate conditions on 
premises. It will only impose conditions that it considers appropriate in order to 
promote the licensing objectives, and which are in themselves reasonable and 
proportionate. 

11.2. Additionally, we will seek to ensure that conditions only pertain to matters which 
are within the direct control or the sphere of influence of the licence-holder. 

Page 33



National Guidance

Each application on its own merits 

1.17 Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with 
the licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy; for example, if the application 
falls within the scope of a cumulative impact policy. Conditions attached to licences 
and certificates must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of 
the premises and events concerned. This is essential to avoid the imposition of 
disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where there is no 
need for such conditions. Standardised conditions should be avoided and indeed 
may be unlawful where they cannot be shown to be appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives in an individual case. 

Public safety

2.6 Licence holders have a responsibility to ensure the safety of those using their 
premises, as a part of their duties under the 2003 Act. This concerns the safety of 
people using the relevant premises rather than public health which is addressed in 
other legislation. Physical safety includes the prevention of accidents and injuries and 
other immediate harms that can result from alcohol consumption such as 
unconsciousness or alcohol poisoning.

2.8 The measures that are appropriate to promote public safety will vary between 
premises and applicants should consider when making their application which steps 
it is appropriate to take to promote the public safety objective and demonstrate how 
they achieve that.

Safe capacities

2.11 “Safe capacities” should only be imposed where appropriate for the promotion of 
public safety or the prevention of disorder on the relevant premises. For example, if a 
capacity has been imposed through other legislation, it would be inappropriate to 
reproduce it in a premises licence.

Public Nuisance

2.16 Conditions relating to noise nuisance will usually concern steps appropriate to 
control the levels of noise emanating from premises. This might be achieved by a 
simple measure such as ensuring that doors and windows are kept closed after a 
particular time, or persons are not permitted in garden areas of the premises after a 
certain time. More sophisticated measures like the installation of acoustic curtains or 
rubber speaker mounts to mitigate sound escape from the premises may be 
appropriate. However, conditions in relation to live or recorded music may not be 
enforceable in circumstances where the entertainment activity itself is not licensable. 
Any conditions appropriate to promote the prevention of public nuisance should be 
tailored to the type, nature and characteristics of the specific premises and its 
licensable activities. Licensing authorities should avoid inappropriate or 
disproportionate measures that could deter events that are valuable to the 
community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for example, are expensive to 
purchase and install and are likely to be a considerable burden for smaller venues.

2.18 Where applications have given rise to representations, any appropriate 
conditions should normally focus on the most sensitive periods. For example, the 
most sensitive period for people being disturbed by unreasonably loud music is at 

Page 34



night and into the early morning when residents in adjacent properties may be 
attempting to go to sleep or are sleeping. This is why there is still a need for a licence 
for performances of live music between 11 pm and 8 am. In certain circumstances, 
conditions relating to noise emanating from the premises may also be appropriate to 
address any disturbance anticipated as customers enter and leave. 

2.20 Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for the 
personal responsibility of individuals under the law. An individual who engages in 
anti-social behaviour is accountable in their own right. However, it would be perfectly 
reasonable for a licensing authority to impose a condition, following relevant 
representations, that requires the licence holder or club to place signs at the exits 
from the building encouraging patrons to be quiet until they leave the area, or that, if 
they wish to smoke, to do so at designated places on the premises instead of 
outside, and to respect the rights of people living nearby to a peaceful night.

Determination of applications

9.36 As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus the hearing on 
the steps considered appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or 
objectives that have given rise to the specific representation and avoid straying into 
undisputed areas. A responsible authority or other person may choose to rely on their 
written representation. They may not add further representations to those disclosed 
to the applicant prior to the hearing, but they may expand on their existing 
representation. 

9.37 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing objectives 
in the overall interests of the local community, the licensing authority must give 
appropriate weight to: 
 the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives; 
 the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the 

parties; 
 this Guidance; 
 its own statement of licensing policy. 

9.38 The licensing authority should give its decision within five working days of the 
conclusion of the hearing (or immediately in certain specified cases) and provide 
reasons to support it. This will be important if there is an appeal by any of the parties. 
Notification of a decision must be accompanied by information on the right of the 
party to appeal. After considering all the relevant issues, the licensing authority may 
grant the application subject to such conditions that are consistent with the operating 
schedule. Any conditions imposed must be appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives; there is no power for the licensing authority to attach a condition 
that is merely aspirational. 

Imposed conditions

10.8 The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has 
been exercised following receipt of relevant representations and it is satisfied as a 
result of a hearing (unless all parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is 
appropriate to impose conditions to promote one or more of the four licensing 
objectives. 

10.9 It is possible that in some cases no additional conditions will be appropriate to 
promote the licensing objectives.

Page 35



APPENDIX B

Applicants name Michael Ward, Hertfordshire Constabulary

Premises licence-holder Mr Vijayakaran Mahalingam

Name and address of premises The Little Convenience Store,
62 Western Road,
Tring
Hertfordshire
HP23 4BB

Ward Tring West and Rural

1. Current Licence

1.1 The premises is subject to a premises licence, number DAC 030163.  The 
licence was initially granted on 14th June 2012.  The current licence holder 
was initially managing the premises only, but transferred the premises 
licence into his name on 3rd May 2016, following a visit to the premises by 
Hertfordshire Constabulary in April 2016. (See Annex B4).

1.2 The premises licence authorises the following licensable activities:

Sale by retail of alcohol
For consumption off the premises

Monday to Saturday 07.00 to 23.00 hours
Sundays  08.00 to 23.00 hours

A copy of the premises licence is set out at Annex A.

2. Application

2.1 An application for review of this premises licence was received by the 
licensing authority on 19th October 2016, citing grounds under the prevention 
of crime and disorder and protection of children from harm objectives, namely 
that sales of alcohol had been made to underage persons at the premises.  
The review application and supporting documentation received from the 
applicant is attached at Annexes B1 to B6.

2.2 Copies of the review application were served by the applicant on the licence-
holder and responsible authorities on the same day.

2.3 Officers ensured that public notice of the application was displayed at or near 
the premises, at the Council’s offices and on the Council’s website, in 
accordance with the relevant regulations, for a period of 28 days from the day 
after the application was received.

3. Details of Representations

3.1 No further representations have been received in respect of this application.

Page 36



4. Observations

4.1 A map of the area in which the premises is situated is included at Annex C.

4.2 Relevant extracts from the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and the 
statutory guidance are set out at Annex D

Page 37



Annex A: Premises Licence

Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Annex B1: Review Application

Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Annex B2: Representation form

Page 51



Page 52



Annex B3: Witness statement of M Ward

Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Annex B4 Letter to V Mahalingham dated 4th April 2016

Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Annex B5: Record of Interview

Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Annex B6: Witness statements

Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Annex C
Map of local area

Page 70



Annex D
Local Policy considerations and statutory guidance

Local Policy considerations
Licensing Objectives

Crime and disorder

5.6 When considering applications and reviews the licensing authority will give 
consideration to:

whether the premises make or will make a significant contribution to levels of crime 
and disorder in the local area, and

whether the operating schedule demonstrates that an adequate risk assessment of 
the likelihood of crime and disorder occurring as the result of the issue of an 
authorisation has been carried out by the applicant.

5.7 The authority will work closely with Hertfordshire Constabulary and the other 
members of the Dacorum Community Safety Partnership, both to monitor and 
investigate incidents of crime or disorder associated with licensable activities at and 
around licensed premises, and to identify emerging trends and patterns in such 
incidents.

The protection of children from harm

5.20. The licensing authority is aware that this objective relates primarily to 
preventing children from being exposed to or permitted to access age-restricted 
products, such as alcohol; or age-restricted services, such as films with content 
deemed suitable only for adults or relevant entertainment of a sexual nature. 
Considerations relating to the physical safety and welfare of children will also be 
taken into account as part of any action the authority takes to promote the public 
safety objective.

5.23. The licensing authority will judge each application and the circumstances 
pertaining to each premises on the individual merits. Examples which may give rise 
to concern in respect of children would include premises:

• where there have been convictions of members of the current staff at the 
premises for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for underage 
drinking,

• where other concerns relating to this objective have arisen.

Representations and Reviews

8.1 Where a right exists for a responsible authority or other person to make 
representations in respect of an application, any representation must be made in 
writing (whether by letter, fax or email), and must contain the name and address of 
the party making the representation, together with any relevant information to assist 
the licensing authority in determining their status. The grounds upon which the 
representation is made should also be clearly set out.

8.2  Representations may encompass a variety of views about an application, and 
may include comments or grounds which are supportive of an application, objecting 

Page 71



to an application, or neutral about an application. The licensing authority will treat all 
relevant representations in the same manner, regardless of their stance.

8.3  Applications for the review of a premises licence or club premises certificate 
may only be made in the prescribed form, and following the procedure set out in the 
Act. Licensing officers are able to offer further advice on this procedure to any party 
considering making an application for review of a licence.

8.4  The licensing authority must have reasonable grounds in order to take action 
to refuse, to revoke or to suspend a licence. This means that it will usually need to 
see evidence which substantiates the grounds cited in representations or review 
applications if it is to act upon those grounds. Speculative grounds which cannot be 
substantiated have previously been found by the courts to carry little weight in the 
decision-making process, and it is therefore likely that the licensing authority would 
be unable to take action of a type referred to above if such grounds are the only ones 
cited in respect of an application.

Applications

9.1. Every matter requiring determination by the licensing authority will be 
considered on its individual merits, and in doing so the authority shall have regard to 
this Statement, the Guidance, and the need to promote the licensing objectives. 
Where applicable, an evidentiary hearing will be conducted prior to the determination 
of the matter, in full accordance with Regulations made under the Act.

9.2. Many application types are subject to a statutory provision whereby they must 
be granted in the absence of relevant representations. In such cases, licences must 
be issued for the full range of licensable activities applied for, subject only to 
applicable mandatory conditions, and conditions which are consistent with measures 
set out by the applicant within their operating schedule.

9.3. Where the authority’s discretion is engaged, following receipt of a relevant 
representation or an objection notice, or in the case of review or minor variation 
applications, the licensing authority will apply the considerations set out below.

9.4. Almost all of the decision-making powers under the Act require licensing 
authorities to take such action as they consider appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. The Act was amended to substitute ‘appropriate’ for ‘necessary’, 
a move which may be regarded as having increased authorities discretion in respect 
of the determination of applications. The licensing authority will now consider 
‘appropriate’ in accordance with the standard dictionary definition: “suitable or proper 
in the circumstances”. 

Licence conditions

11.1. The licensing authority will seek to avoid imposing disproportionate conditions 
on premises. It will only impose conditions that it considers appropriate in order to 
promote the licensing objectives, and which are in themselves reasonable and 
proportionate.

11.2. Additionally, we will seek to ensure that conditions only pertain to matters 
which are within the direct control or the sphere of influence of the licence-holder.

Page 72



National Guidance

Each application on its own merits

1.17 Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with 
the licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy; for example, if the application 
falls within the scope of a cumulative impact policy. Conditions attached to licences 
and certificates must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of 
the premises and events concerned. This is essential to avoid the imposition of 
disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where there is no 
need for such conditions. Standardised conditions should be avoided and indeed 
may be unlawful where they cannot be shown to be appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives in an individual case.

Licensing objectives

2.3 Conditions should be targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and 
disorder. For example, where there is good reason to suppose that disorder may take 
place, the presence of closed-circuit television (CCTV) cameras both inside and 
immediately outside the premises can actively deter disorder, nuisance, anti-social 
behaviour and crime generally. Some licence holders may wish to have cameras on 
their premises for the prevention of crime directed against the business itself, its staff, 
or its customers. But any condition may require a broader approach, and it may be 
appropriate to ensure that the precise location of cameras is set out on plans to 
ensure that certain areas are properly covered and there is no subsequent dispute 
over the terms of the condition.

2.5 Conditions relating to the management competency of designated premises 
supervisors should not normally be attached to premises licences. It will normally be 
the responsibility of the premises licence holder as an employer, and not the 
licensing authority, to ensure that the managers appointed at the premises are 
competent and appropriately trained. The designated premises supervisor is the key 
person who will usually be responsible for the day to day management of the 
premises by the premises licence holder, including the prevention of disorder. A 
condition of this kind may only be justified as appropriate in rare circumstances 
where it can be demonstrated that, in the circumstances associated with particular 
premises, poor management competency could give rise to issues of crime and 
disorder and public safety.

The protection of children from harm

2.21 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from 
moral, psychological and physical harm.

2.22 The Government believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell alcohol to 
children. Conditions relating to the access of children where alcohol is sold and which 
are appropriate to protect them from harm should be carefully considered.

Determining Applications

9.36  As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus the hearing 
on the steps considered appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or 
objectives that have given rise to the specific representation and avoid straying into 
undisputed areas. A responsible authority or other person may choose to rely on their 

Page 73



written representation. They may not add further representations to those disclosed 
to the applicant prior to the hearing, but they may expand on their existing 
representation.

9.37  In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing 
objectives in the overall interests of the local community, the licensing authority must 
give appropriate weight to:
• the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives;
• the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties;
• this Guidance;
• its own statement of licensing policy.

9.38  The licensing authority should give its decision within five working days of the 
conclusion of the hearing (or immediately in certain specified cases) and provide 
reasons to support it. This will be important if there is an appeal by any of the parties. 
Notification of a decision must be accompanied by information on the right of the 
party to appeal. After considering all the relevant issues, the licensing authority may 
grant the application subject to such conditions that are consistent with the operating 
schedule. Any conditions imposed must be appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives; there is no power for the licensing authority to attach a condition 
that is merely aspirational. For example, conditions may not be attached which relate 
solely to the health of customers rather than their direct physical safety.

Imposed Conditions

10.8 The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has 
been engaged following receipt of relevant representations and it is satisfied as a 
result of a hearing (unless all parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is 
appropriate to impose conditions to promote one or more of the four licensing 
objectives.

Reviews

11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate, a responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing 
authority to review the licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the 
premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.

11.7 In every case, any application for a review must relate to particular premises 
in respect of which there is a premises licence or club premises certificate and must 
be relevant to the promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives.

11.9 Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the 
subsequent hearing or may stand in their own right. Additional representations which 
do not amount to an amplification of the original representation may not be made at 
the hearing.

11.19 Where the licensing authority considers that action under its statutory powers 
is appropriate, it may take any of the following steps:

• modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new 
conditions or any alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, 
by reducing the hours of opening or by requiring door supervisors at particular 
times;

Page 74



• exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to 
exclude the performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it 
is not within the incidental live and recorded music exemption);

• remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they 
consider that the problems are the result of poor management;

• suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;

• revoke the licence.

11.20 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, it is expected that licensing 
authorities should so far as possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the 
concerns that the representations identify. The remedial action taken should 
generally be directed at these causes and should always be no more than an 
appropriate and proportionate response.

11.21 For example, licensing authorities should be alive to the possibility that the 
removal and replacement of the designated premises supervisor may be sufficient to 
remedy a problem where the cause of the identified problem directly relates to poor 
management decisions made by that individual.

11.22 Equally, it may emerge that poor management is a direct reflection of poor 
company practice or policy and the mere removal of the designated premises 
supervisor may be an inadequate response to the problems presented. Indeed, 
where subsequent review hearings are generated by representations, it should be 
rare merely to remove a succession of designated premises supervisors as this 
would be a clear indication of deeper problems that impact upon the licensing 
objectives.

11.23 Licensing authorities should also note that modifications of conditions and 
exclusions of licensable activities may be imposed either permanently or for a 
temporary period of up to three months. Temporary changes or suspension of the 
licence for up to three months could impact on the business holding the licence 
financially and would only be expected to be pursued as an appropriate means of 
promoting the licensing objectives. So, for instance, a licence could be suspended for 
a weekend as a means of deterring the holder from allowing the problems that gave 
rise to the review to happen again. However, it will always be important that any 
detrimental financial impact that may result from a licensing authority’s decision is 
appropriate and proportionate to the promotion of the licensing objectives. But where 
premises are found to be trading irresponsibly, the licensing authority should not 
hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to tackle the problems at 
the premises and, where other measures are deemed insufficient, to revoke the 
licence.

Page 75



LICENSING OF ALCOHOL AND GAMBLING SUB-COMMITTEE 
PROCEDURE

The procedure of the Sub-Committee will be as follows:

1. The Chairman will open the meeting by:
(a) Introducing the Members of the Sub-Committee (at the same time 

indicating any change in membership), and the Officers present, to the 
parties and any other person in attendance, including any 
representative of the press;

(b) stating the nature of the matter to be considered, (including a reference 
to the name of the premises or place concerned) and

(c) explaining the procedure to be followed.

2. The Chairman will ask those present to introduce themselves and:
(a) if any party, without prior notice, fails to attend or to be represented, the 

Sub-Committee will consider whether or not it is necessary in the public 
interest to adjourn the hearing to a specified date;

(b) if any party is unaccompanied, the Chairman will clarify whether that 
party understood it was permissible to have a representative;

(c) the Chairman will establish whether it is proposed anyone speak as a 
spokesperson;

(d) the Sub-Committee will consider: 
(i) any properly made request by a party for permission for any other 

person, (not being a representative), to appear and 
(ii) any request to provide late documentary or other information and 

will only take the same into account if the other parties consent.

3. The Chairman will ask whether any Member has an interest to declare and 
whether any Member has visited the premises or place the subject of the 
application.

4. The Chairman will establish whether all Members of the Sub-Committee have 
read the papers before them.

5. The Chairman will ask the Officers present to confirm whether there has been 
compliance with all relevant requirements and to summarise any relevant 
information, as necessary.

6. Members may ask any relevant question of any Officer.

7. The Chairman will ask each person who is to speak at the meeting for an 
indication of how much time he or she reasonably estimates is required to 
make relevant points concisely, and without undue repetition, and will 
consider a maximum period of time to be applied equally in the case of all the 
parties.

8. The Sub-Committee will hear from the Applicant (and any proposed Premises 
Supervisor, if applicable), any Responsible Authority or other person who has 
made relevant representations (in that order, except in the case of a Review 
where the order will be: the person or Responsible Authority bringing the 
Review, the Licence-Holder, and any other Responsible Authority or other 
person having made relevant representations). Subject to 2 (d)(ii) above, 
those persons speaking may only raise points which have been made in 

Page 76

Agenda Item 5



writing prior to the meeting and/or give further information, by way of 
clarification of a point, if this has been sought by the Authority in the notice 
given by it prior to the hearing.

9. In every case at a suitable point, Members of the Sub-Committee may ask 
relevant questions of each party.

10. The Sub-Committee will consider any party’s request to question/cross-
examine another party and will not permit cross-examination unless it is of the 
view that it is required in order for Members to consider the representations, 
application or notice as the case may be.

11. The Chairman will invite any person or Responsible Authority, who have 
made relevant representations, and the Applicant (in that order, except in the 
case of a Review where the order will be:  any person or Responsible 
Authority which has not made the application for Review, the Licence-Holder, 
and the person or Responsible Authority bringing the Review), or those 
representing them, to summarise their points if they wish. At this stage, the 
Applicant will be afforded the opportunity to consider whether or not to 
propose amendments to the operating schedule with a view to addressing 
relevant issues and any such amendment would then fall to be discussed.

12. The Chairman will seek confirmation from all parties that they are satisfied 
they have made all the pertinent points which they wished to make.

13. Members of the Sub-Committee will discuss what has been said and written 
on the matter before them and make their decision.

14. The Chairman will confirm the decision, the reasons for the decision, and any 
condition placed upon the licence (if granted) and the licensing objective to 
which each condition relates.

Please Note:
 All properly made applications, notices and representations received from 

absent parties will be considered.
 An Applicant has a right to appeal, details of which can be obtained via the 

Licensing Officer.
 The Authority has the right to require any person who, in its opinion, is 

behaving in a disruptive manner, to leave the hearing and may preclude, or 
impose conditions in relation to, that person’s return.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

To consider passing a resolution in the following terms:

That, under s.100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A Part 1 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 
the public be excluded during the item in Part II of the Agenda for this meeting, 
because it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted, that if 
members of the public were present during that item there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information relating to ... .

Page 77


	Agenda
	4 Premises Licence applications under the Licensing Act 2003
	Licensing AG-12-12-2016-Appendix A 67A St John's Road
	Licensing AG-12-12-2016 Appendix B 62 Western Road Tring

	5 Procedure for the hearing

